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For the reasons set forth below, the Court denies Defigsiagaotion to dismiss this lawsuit [56], but sanctipns
Plaintiff Sheik L. Love EL in the amount of $450 foetimaterial omissions in his application for leave to
proceedn forma pauperis If Plaintiff wishes to proceed with this lawsuit, he is ordered to pay $350 to the|Clerk
of Court and $100 to the United States of Ameribeo{igh the Clerk of the Cayron or before May 9, 2011
If payment is not made by May 9, this case will be dismissed with prejudice.

=

.[ For further details see text below.] Docketing to mail notices. Notices mailed by Judicial staff.

*Copy to judge/magistrate judgg.

STATEMENT

Plaintiffs Moorish National Republic: Federal Government Moorish Divine and National Movement|of the
World, Moorish Science Temple of America, Sheikessn@iEL, and Sheik L. Love EL have filed a complgint
naming the City of Chicago, Mayor Richard Daleydather unnamed Chicago Police Department emplgyees
as Defendants. Plaintiffs seek damages under 4ZUgS1983 in connection witthree incidents alleged
involving Chicago police officersOn June 30, 2010, Plaintiff Sheik Lof was granted leave to procaa

forma pauperig“IFP”) [see 18] on the basis of representatitivad Sheik Love EL made in his IFP applicatipn,
sworn to be true under penalty of perjury. Defendantsmowe for dismissal with pjudice, asserting that thggy
have uncovered evidence that Sheik Love EL lied on his IFP application.

Background

On February 16, 2010, Plaintiffs filed their thirteen-count complaint, alleging various state law violatigpns anc
constitutional violations premised on 42 U.S.C. § 1968 April 27, 2010, the Court issued a minute ordey [7]
noting that Plaintiffs had neither patige $350 filing fee nor fileé an IFP application. Plaintiffs refused to flay
the filing fee or submit a financial statement becaihey believed that both requirements violated their
constitutional rights. On May 28, 2010, the Court issuedrdar [12] once again noting that Plaintiffs fjad
neither paid the required filing fee nor submitted a properly completed application for leave to préweed
pauperiswith supporting financial affidavit. Plaintiffagain refused to submit the proper forms basegl on
Plaintiffs’ constitutional challengestioe statutory requirements concerning the payment of filing fees. Plgintiffs
maintained that the Court’s “demand” for a financiaketent “is used as an instrument to deny [them]|due
process of law and [their] right fcee access to the courts.” Unpersuaded by Plaintiffs’ arguments in vifew of
the pertinent statutory authority and case law, the t@@mwe Plaintiffs until June 16, 2010, to either (1) tefider
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STATEMENT

to the Clerk of the Court the $350 filing fee or (2) file with the ClerkhefCourt an application for leave|to
proceedn forma pauperisvith a completed financial affidavit.

On June 16, 2010, Plaintiff Sheik L. Lo filed an application for IFP siat [13], asserting that he was last
employed in 2008 with Elite Realty and Rehab. Forywéner question on the application, he marked ejther
“no” or “none.” Specifically, he stated that hesweot currently employed, denied receiving more than $2D0 in
the last twelve months from any otlemurce (including wages, self-emplogm, rental income, or gifts), and
stated that no one else living with him had received itiane $200 in the past twelve months. He attested that
he did not own any stocks, bonds, securities, or othanéial instruments, and he denied that he or arfyone
living with him owned real estate, automobiles worth more than $1000, or other personal property wdyth mor
than $1000. The IFP application warns that the responsesaatte under penalty of perjury and states thaf|“the
court shall dismiss this case at any time if the courrated that [the] allegation of poverty is untrue.” Sheik
Love EL signed the application.

On June 30, 2010, the Court granted Plaigifeik Love EL’s application to proceadforma pauperigl18].
Defendants have now moved to dismiss this caseegrtiund that Plaintiff Sheik Love EL lied on his IFP
application. In support of their motion, Defendants/quted evidence through public documents and Sheik Love
EL’s own admissions that he failed to disclose certage® on his IFP application in this case. According to
Defendants, these misrepresentations first cameeio #itention upon discovering that Plaintiffs fileq a
complaint on October 12, 2010, against defense couns#handS. Marshals Service arising out of Sheiljess
Diana EL’s arrest on September 21, 2010. ek L. LovE&L, et. al., v. DOJ—UNnited States Marshals Seryice,
et. al, 10 CV 6536 (Zagel, J.). On that same day, Sheik EbvBled an IFP applicadin in that case, which ||s
substantially similar to the one presented in this dagayith one difference—in response to Question # 2, $heik
Love EL failed to disclose the beginning and ending dates ¢dst employment, whereas in the IFP application
in the case at bar, he disclosed that informatiorthdhcase, Judge Zagel denied Sheik Love EL’s motipn to
proceedn forma pauperisobserving that Sheik Love EL’s claim that he received “no income * * * fronfl any
source including gifts * * * would leav@m without the ability to acquire amgcessity of life, i.e. housing, foq(,
and clothes.” As a result, Judge Zagel terminated the case.

Upon receiving Judge Zagel's order, counsel for Defendargstigated the representations in Sheik Love KL’s
IFP application. According to the exhibits attachedefendants’ motion, Defendanhaintain that Sheik Lo

EL failed to disclose (1) his employment with the MebrScience Temple of America (“MTSA”) (a religious
corporation); (2) the fact that he is self-employed ‘dsraclosure specialist,” (3) his ownership interest in|the
real property located at 5916 S. Sangamon Street, atlte(4) TSA’s ownership interest in the real propgrty
located at 5916 S. Sangamon Street. Defendantsncbtitat Sheik Love EL’s failure to disclose fis
employment and his interest in real property demonstrat@thintiffs have misrepresented their financial status
and are not impoverished, and Defendants ask for dismissal with prejudice as a sanction.

1. Analysis

The purpose of the IFP statute isattow individuals who are unable to afford the costs of litigation the apility
to still bring their claims before the CouBee 28 U.S.C. § 1915. “The opportunity to proéeddrma pauperis
is a privilege provided for the benefit of indiggrarsons and the court system depends upon the honegty and
forthrightness of applicants to ensure that the privilege is not abuSkdrig v. Dushan®003 WL 22902561,
at *2 (N.D. Ill. 2003) (citingDenton v. Hernandes04 U.S. 25, 27 (1992)). Puant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915
(e)(2)(A), “Notwithstanding any filing fee, or any portitmereof, that may have been paid, the court ghall
dismiss the case at any time if the court determines that * * * the allegation of poverty is untrue.”
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In reviewing a person’s ability to pay court costg @ourt seeks a whole host of information, includingl the
following: whether the applicant is incarcerated, eyetl or married; whether the applicant or anyone li Ling
in his residence has received more than $200 from avgriofus sources in the previous twelve months, [pr if
the applicant or cohabitant has more than $200 in@aisha bank account, or any stocks, bonds or secu(ﬂities;

whether the applicant or anyone living with the applicams any real estate, automobile, boat/trailer/mgbile
home; and whether the applicant has any dependentdFH lagplication clearly requires a plaintiff to disclgse
his employment and any properties in which he has an interest.

In their response to Defendants’ motion to dismisspBfts do not contend that they did not understand the IFP
application or that they were laboring under duress Villitgg out the application. Rather, they maintain that
dismissal is not appropriate beca(sethey would be prejudiced by dismissal of the instant action, (2) pheik
Love EL does not earn a salary from the MTSA and tbegefias not required to disclose his employmenﬁ (3)

the MTSA does not have liquid asseteluding the property located at 5916 S. Sangamon, and thus dis¢losure
was not required, and (4) the property at 5916 S. Samgamot held in title by Sheik Love EL, therefgre
disclosure of his equitable and beneficial interest imaoessary. In short, Plaintiffs concede that Sheik’g IFP
application and affidavit omitted information regarding®&h.ove EL’s employment and interest in certain fleal
property. They insist, however, thiie omissions are immaterial because, despite his employment |1d any
documents reflecting his interest in real estate, he remains impoverished.

Plaintiffs have not denied that Sheik Love Els leen employed by the MTSA since September 1997 See
Plaintiffs’ Response at §12. However, Plaintiffs aripja¢ because he does not earn a salary, disclosure was not
required. To the contrary, Plaintitiéd a duty to disclose Sheik Ldzk’s employment on the IFP applicatipn
to assist the Court in determining whether he was impoverished despite his employment. At a nmjinimun
disclosure of Sheik Love EL’s ongoing employmenttiefeship with the MTSA may have prompted furtfper
inquiry into any tangible financial benefits that accioen that relationship, even if Sheik Love EL does|not
receive a “salary.” Furthermore, Plaintiffs reprasdat the MTSA is “an Express Trust containing a yast
estate.” See Plaintiffs’ Response &8 Yet nowhere in the IFP Applicatiane the assets of this “vast estdte”
identified, nor does the application account for any incanterest, or dividends earned by the “vast estdte.”
Plaintiffs contend that the estate was not disclosed beatis not “liquid.” Seélaintiffs’ Response at {13.
Whether the assets are liquid or not, and no matter the value, the MTSA'’s “vast estate” was requffed to |
disclosed to the extent that Sheik Love EL has any interest in ite.§e®lathis v. New York Live Ins. Cd.33
F.3d 546, (7th Cir. 1997) (where a property owner faittisolose an ownership interest in real property, guch
failure constitutes grounds for dismissal). Furtheemaithough Sheik Love EL claimed no interest in feal
property in his IFP application and in Plaintiffs’ pesse brief, documents which were executed by him| and
subsequently recorded against the property locate@l®t S. Sangamon, belie that assertion. See Defenﬂiants’

Exhibit 6 (“Testimonium of Titulusim” which statdhat Sheik Lyonel Montia Love-EL is the “Equitaljle
Owner/Beneficiary” of 5916 S. Sangamon in Chicago, lllinois). Plaintiffs clhah“[a]n individual nam
should never be added” to the deed, but the executed Testimonium has the effect of doing just that.

Essentially, rather than refuting Defendants’ evidencenfffaiattempt to explain why their failure to make full
disclosures is immaterial. In doing,dlaintiffs miss the point of an IFEpplication, which is for the Court fo

review all of the information requested the application, in conjunction withe applicable standards, and m

an independent assessment of whether a plaintiff stbeutdquired to pay the filing fee. As noted abovg, in
some instances the information disclosed by the applicant prompts further inquiry from the Court. Pjaintiffs
attempt to filter the information through their own selferested perception of what is relevant versug not
relevant thwarts the purpose of an IFP application.a Atinimum, the explanations set forth in Plaintiffs’
response brief should hateeen included in the IFP application and presented to the Court for consid%ftion.

e

Instead, by omitting information from thieP application, it was Plaintiffs 0t the Court) who assessed Shelk’s
employment, his property interest, and MTSA's interests@ncluded that they wedeserving of IFP status.
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Previously, 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(A) granted district todiscretion to determine whether a false statefnent

in an IFP application warranted dismissal of the case.eSge Mallard v. U.S. Dist. Court for the S. Dist|f of
lowa, 490 U.S. 296, 298 (1989) (“Section 19dpprovides: ‘The court * * * may dismiss the case if fhe
allegation of poverty is untrue * * *”). However, in 1996, § 1915 was amended to require dismissal|in sucf
situations: “Notwithstanding any filing fee, or apgrtion thereof, that may have been paid, the cshatl
dismiss the case at any time if the court determinegah#he allegation of poverty is untrue * * *.” 28 U.S||C.
8 1915(e)(2)(A) (emphasis added). Although some case law suggests, and many courts have founfl, that :
untrue allegation of poverty in a motion to procéedorma pauperismandates dismissal (s&cRoyal v
Commonwealth EdisoGo., 263 Fed. Appx. 500, 502 (7th Cir. 200B)pmas v. General Motors Acceptaifjce
Corp., 288 F.3d 305, 306 (7th Cir. 2002)eaver v. Borgwarner Transmission Sys., 18009 WL 479822(
at*4 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 14, 2009 heairs v. United Water/Suef)09 WL 3568660, at *5 (N.D. Ind. Oct. 26, 20
Pelmer v. Dean562 F.Supp.2d 1006, 1008 (N.D. Ill. 200Bgwaney v. TCF BanR006 WL 3523842, at *
(N.D. lll. June 24, 2006)), the Seventhreiit Court of Appeals and districourts have declined to impose fhe
ultimate sanction of dismissal notwithstanding untrue allegaof poverty on the application when the plaintiff
has not “reaped the benefitsinfforma pauperistatus.” Hrobowski v. Commonwealth Edison C203 F.3
445, 448 (7th Cir. 2000); see akkon v. Earthgrains C0.2010 WL 2610460, at *3 (N.D. lll. June 24, 201()).
In some instances, courts have samed plaintiffs with monets penalties, rather thatismissal with prejudic
for misrepresentations on an IFP application. i8elRoyal v. Commonweath Edison.(2007 WL 164221,
*2 (N.D. lll. Jan. 17, 2007); see al8vyay v. United Water2010 WL 5231315, at *3-*4 (N.D. Ind. Dec.
2010) (imposing a non-monetary sanction, but not distmidshe case, upon findingdhthe plaintiff lied o
his IFP application).

In the Court’s view, the circumstancefsthis case do not fit easily withthe paradigmatic cases cited aboye.
It is clear from the case law that if a court affirmalyvdetermines that Plaiffts “allegation of poverty wa
false,” then the court has “no choice” but to dismisslélwsuit—although it lies within the court’s discretion to
dismiss with or without prejudic8.homas288 F.3d at 306 (affirming dismissal of lawsuit with prejudice wipere
plaintiff failed to disclose expestl $58,990 payment). But the delict hevhile serious, was not as egregigus
as inThomagor may other analogous cases) because it is ragr@vrom the record that Plaintiff Sheik Loye
EL would not have qualified for IFP stethad his application been compleRut slightly differently, while i
is clear that Sheik Love EL'’s application was incomplbté it is not clear thahe “allegation of poverty wds
false.” Id.

In these circumstances, the Court concludes that the@an€tutright dismissal i®b harsh. Atthe same time,
however, permitting Plaintiff to resubmit his financidbirmation—essentially a “do over’—would be too Ienri](re\t.

The undisputed evidence before the Court, consistiijanftiffs’ representations in their response brief|and
Defendants’ exhibits, demonstrateattRlaintiff Sheik Love EL made incomplete statements on his appligation
to proceedn forma pauperidy stating that he was not employed and tieadid not own any interest in any rgal
estate. Employment information and real estate holdings are an integral part of the Court’s decisignmakir
process when ruling on an IFP motionaiRtiffs were required to disclose all assets, including an interest(ﬂw real
property, which bear on their claims of poverty. Rart Sheik Love EL was required to disclose (his
employment, whether salaried or not. These mat@mgsions are serious enougimerit a sanction, although
one short of dismissal.

9)

A “district court has inherent authority to séino conduct that abuses the judicial proceSkhtano v. City o
Chi., 535 F.3d 558, 563 (7th Cir. 2008) (citiGdpambers v. NASCO, In&01 U.S. 32, 44-45 (1991potson
v. Bravo,321 F.3d 663, 667 (7th Cir. 2003))cRoyal 2007 WL 164221, at *2. “The sanction imposed shguld
be proportionate to the gravity of the offendd.”(citing Allen v. Chi. Transit Auth317 F.3d 696, 703 (7th Cfr.
2003). Although the Court finds that dismissal ishacsh a sanction under the circumstances described [above
and, thus, denies Defendants’ motion to the extereitsdismissal on this basis, the Court nevertheless|finds
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that a lesser sanction is appropriate for Plaintdtsiduct in making what, at minimum, were materially
incomplete statements to the@t on the application to procedorma pauperis As Chief Judge Easterbropk
has said in another, but not unrelated context, “[jfésnwho attempt to deceiviederal judges * * * cannqt
expect favorable treatment on matters of discreti@aimpbell v. Clarke481 F.3d 967 (7th Cir. 2007).

After careful deliberation, the Couriccludes that an appropriate sanctmPlaintiff Sheik Love EL’s conduqt
is to force him to disgorge “the benefitsioforma pauperistatus” Hrabowskj 203 F.3d at 448) if he wishgs

to proceed with this lawsuit. Although the Court doeshaet sufficient information to determine conclusiely
whether Plaintiff is “impoverished” (and thus would be iblig for IFP status), the cause of that information|gap

is Plaintiff's own conduct. To datkecause the Court has not appointed counsel (nor has it been asked tfp do so
the benefits that Plaintiff has obtained as a result dFRistatus have been (1) permission to proceed (thys far)
without paying the filing fee and Y&ervice of the complaint on Defendants by the United States Mafshals
Service. As a sanction, those benefits will now be taken away.

If Plaintiff Sheik Love EL wishes tproceed with this case, he mus} phay the $350 filing fee to the Clerk [pf
the Court and (2) pay an additional $100 sanction itolnérse the United States government for the gosts
associated with service of the summasand complaint by the United States Marshals Service. Inregard to the
service costs, the docket sheet reflects a return atedB0], which was not executed because Plaintiff digl not
return the USM-285 forms to the Marshals Service. The docket also shows two subsequent executed| return:
service [49, 50] on Defendants and répane hour and one mile as the time and distance associated With the
Marshals’ efforts. Payment of the $100 sanction mandéde through the Clerk of the Court. Both paymgnts
must be made no later than May 9, 20lrithe event that the sanctions are not paid by May 9, this lawsyjt will
be dismissed with prejudice. SHeomas288 F.3d at 306-07 (explaining whdiissal without prejudice oftgn
amounts to “no sanction at all”). @lCourt recognizes that Plaintiff mighg either unwilling or unable to pgy
these sums, but these costs are imposed by waftBintiff Sheik Love EL’s own conduct.

[11. Conclusion

In sum, Defendants’ motion to dismiss [56] is deniedalsw sanction short of digsal for Plaintiff Sheik Lov
EL’s material omissions from his IREpplication, the Court orders PlaihGheik Love EL to pay the Clerk ¢f
the Court $350.00 (the amount of a filifege) by May 9, 2011. In addition, th@@t orders that Plaintiffs pay

by May 9, 2011, an additional sanction of $100 to the UiSitates of America as an approximate reimbursefnent
to the United States government for the service afuih@monses and complaint by the Marshals Service. |Both
payments can be made in the Clerk’s Office of the dntates District Court for the Northern District|of
lllinois. If the sanctions are not paid by May 9, this case will be dismissed with prejudice.

W
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